

## Constitution and Rules

# 2002 AUSTRALIAN CAPITAL TERRITORY ASSOCIATIONS INCORPORATION ACT 1991 CONSTITUTION AND RULES 2002 OF CAPITAL ARTS PATRONS ORGANISATION INCORPORATED

## 1. NAME

The name of the Organisation shall be Capital Arts Patrons Organisation Incorporated (called "CAPO").

## 2. DEFINITION

In this Constitution and Rules unless the contrary intention appears: "Board members" "Board" means the Board constituted pursuant to clause 14 of these Rules. "the Executive" means the Executive Committee constituted pursuant to clause 15 of these Rules. "Nomination Committee" means the committee referred to in clause 17 of these Rules having the function as therein set out. "the Act" means the Associations Incorporation Act 1991. Words importing the singular number only shall include the plural and words importing the plural shall include the singular. -2- Words importing the masculine gender shall include the feminine and words importing the feminine shall include the masculine.

## 3. CONSTRUCTION

This Constitution and these Rules shall be construed with reference to the Act and to the Interpretation Act 1937. Terms used herein shall be taken as having the same meanings as they have when used in those Acts and regulations made thereunder (if any) unless the contrary intention appears.

## 4. OBJECTS

The objects for which CAPO is established are:

- (a) to foster, promote and encourage the establishment and development of the visual, performing and musical arts in the Australian Capital Territory and such other arts and crafts as CAPO may from time to time resolve to support.
- (b) subject to paragraph (a) of this clause to sponsor, raise funds for and otherwise support such professional bodies, groups or individuals engaged in the arts as CAPO in its absolute discretion may decide.
- (c) Subject to paragraph (a) of this clause to support, financially or otherwise, the provision of professional assistance to and encourage professionalism in such other bodies, groups or individuals as CAPO in its absolute discretion may decide.
- (d) To arrange and conduct such fund raising activity as may be considered appropriate to further the objects set out above.
- (e) To promote and develop Canberra as a major cultural centre and to obtain support for the arts in the community at large and in particular to seek the support of Industry and Commerce, Government and Sectional Interests within the community.

POWERS CAPO shall have the following powers:

- (f) To invest and deal with the money of CAPO not immediately required in such manner as may be permitted by law for the investment of trust funds.
- (g) To purchase, take on lease or in exchange, hire and otherwise acquire any. lands, buildings, easements or property, real and personal, and any rights or privileges which may be requisite for the purposes of or capable of being conveniently used in connection with any of the objects of CAPO PROVIDED THAT in case CAPO shall take or hold any property which may be subject to any trusts CAPO shall only deal with the same in such manner as is allowed by law having regard to such trusts.
- (h) To appoint, employ, remove or suspend such managers, clerks, secretaries, or other persons as may be necessary or convenient for the purposes of CAPO.
- (i) In furtherance of the objects of CAPO to sell, improve, manage, develop, exchange, lease, dispose of, turn to account or otherwise deal with all or any part of the property and rights of CAPO.
- (j) The repayment or performance of any debt, liability contract guarantee or other engagement incurred or to be entered into by CAPO in any way and in particular by the issue of debentures perpetual or otherwise charged upon all or any of CAPO's property (both present and future), and to purchase, redeem or payoff any such securities.

- (k) To take or hold mortgages, liens and charges to secure payment of the purchase price or any unpaid balance of the purchase price, of any of CAPO's property of whatsoever kind sold by CAPO or any money due to CAPO from purchasers and others.
- (1) To take any gift of property whether subject to any special trust or not, for anyone or more of the objects of CAPO -4 -
- (m) To take such steps by application to Government, Government agency or instrumentality or any corporation or other body, personal or written appeals, public meetings or otherwise, as may from time to time be deemed expedient for the purpose of procuring contributions to the funds of CAPO, in the shape of grants, loans, donations, annual subscriptions or otherwise.
- (n) In furtherance of the objects of CAPO to amalgamate with any companies, institutions, societies or associations having objects altogether or in part similar to those of CAPO and which shall prohibit the distribution of its or their income and property among its or their members to an extent at least as great as that imposed upon CAPO.
- (o) In furtherance of the objects of CAPO to purchase or otherwise acquire and undertake all or any part of the property, assets, liabilities and engagements of anyone or more of the companies, institutions, societies or associations with which CAPO is authorised to amalgamate.
- (p) In furtherance of the objects of CAPO to transfer all or any part of the property, assets, liabilities and engagements of CAPO to anyone or more of the companies, institutions, societies or associations with which CAPO is authorised to amalgamate.
- (q) To do all such other things as are incidental or conducive to the attainment of the objects and the exercise of the powers of CAPO.

#### 5. INCOME AND PROPERTY

The income and property of CAPO whencesoever derived shall be applied solely towards the promotion of its objects and no portion thereof shall be paid or transferred directly or indirectly by way of dividend bonus or otherwise howsoever by way of profit to any Member of CAPO PROVIDED THAT nothing herein contained shall prevent the payment in good faith of reasonable and proper remuneration to any officer or servant of CAPO or to any Member thereof in return for any service actually rendered to CAPO nor prevent payment of interest at a rate not exceeding the maximum rate charged for the time being and from time to time on private overdraft accounts by Banks in Canberra in the said Territory on money lent or reasonable and proper rent for premises demised or let by any Member of CAPO.

## 6. MEMBERSHIP

6.1 The members of CAPO shall be divided into the following classes: Life Members Board Members 6.2 A person is qualified to a member of CAPO if the person: (a) has been nominated for membership by the Nominations Committee; and (b) has been approved for membership by the membership of CAPO.

## 7. BOARD MEMBERS

The persons who are nominated and elected as Board Members shall subject to acceptance be Board Members of CAPO. Any natural person may be nominated as a trustee member in CAPO by the Nominations Committee.

## 8. LIFE MEMBERS

Life Members of the Board shall be persons elected to that category by the Board by a majority vote of the membership present in person or by proxy, and shall also include all past presidents of CAPO.

# 9. PATRONS

The Board may elect from time to time as Patrons of CAPO a person or persons who support the objects of CAPO and accepts their nomination, such election to be for such a term as the Board determines.

## 10. GENERAL PROVISIONS RELATING TO MEMBERSHIP

# 10.1 Termination of Membership

Membership in any class of membership shall terminate upon the death, resignation or removal of any member, (such removal to be effected by a vote of a majority of the members present, in person or by proxy, at any annual meeting or at any special meeting of the members qualified for the purpose) or in the circumstances mentioned in clause 10.4 of these rules.

## 10.2 Voting Rights

(a) Board Members Each Board Member shall be entitled to one vote, in person or by proxy, on each matter submitted to vote by the Board Members. No proxy shall be deemed operative unless and until signed by the Board Member and filed with CAPO. (b) Life Members Life Members shall have no vote.

# 10.3 Notices of Meeting

All members shall be entitled to receive notice of general meetings of CAPO and be heard. 10.4 Subscriptions All members shall pay such subscriptions if any to CAPO as the Executive of the Board of Trustees shall from time to time determine shall apply to their particular class. If a member shall fail to pay a subscription to CAPO within three (3) months after it becomes payable the Secretary may give him notice of default and if the member does not pay the subscription within one calendar month after the date of such notice the member shall upon resolution of the executive cease to be a member of CAPO.

#### 11. DISCIPLINING OF MEMBERS

- 11.1 Where the Board is of the opinion that a member: (a) has persistently refused or neglected to comply with a provision of these rules: or (b) has persistently and wilfully acted in a manner prejudicial to the interests of CAPO, the Board may, by resolution: (c) expel the member from CAPO; or (d) suspend the member from such rights and privileges of membership of CAPO as the Board may determine for a specified period.
- 11.2 A resolution of the Board under subclause 11.1 is of no effect unless the Board, at a meeting held not earlier than 14 days and not later than 28 days after service on the member of a notice under subclause 11.3, confirms the resolution in accordance with this clause.
- 11.3 Where the Board passes a resolution under subclause 11.1, the secretary shall, as soon as practicable, cause a notice in writing to be served on the member: (a) Setting out the resolution of the Board and the grounds on which it is based; (b) stating that the member may address the Board at a meeting to be held not earlier than 14 days and not later than 28 days after service of the notice; (c) stating the date, place and time of that meeting; and (d) informing the member that the member may do either or both of the following: (i) attend and speak at that meeting; -8- (ii) submit to the Board at or prior to the date of that meeting written representations relating to the resolution.
- 11.4 Subject to section 50 of the Act, at a meeting of the Board mentioned in subclause 11.3, the Board shall: (a) give to the member mentioned in subclause 11.1 an opportunity to make oral representations; (b) give due consideration to any written representations submitted to the Board by that member at or prior to the meeting; and (c) by resolution determine whether to confirm or to revoke the resolution of the Executive made under subclause 11.1.
- 11.5 Where the Board confirms a resolution under subclause 11.4, the secretary shall, within 7 days after that confirmation, by notice in writing inform the member of that confirmation and of the member's right of appeal under clause 12.
- 11.6 A resolution confirmed by the Board under subclause 11.4 does not take effect: (a) until the expiration of the period within which the member is entitled to appeal against the resolution where the member does not exercise the right of appeal within that period; or (b) where within that period the member exercises the right of appeal, unless and until CAPO confirms the resolution in accordance with subclause 11.4.

#### 12. RIGHT OF APPEAL OF DISCIPLINED MEMBER

- 12.1 A member may appeal to CAPO in general meeting against a resolution of the Board which is confirmed under subclause 11.4, within 7 days after notice of the resolution is served on the member, by lodging with the secretary a notice to that effect.
- 12.2 Upon receipt of a notice under subclause 12.1, the secretary shall notify the Executive which shall convene a general meeting of CAPO to be held within 21 days after the date on which the secretary received the notice or as soon as possible after that date.
- 12.3 Subject to section 50 of the Act, at a general meeting of CAPO convened under subclause 12.2: (a) no business other than the question of the appeal shall be transacted; (b) the Board and the member shall be given the opportunity to make representations in relation to the appeal orally or in writing, or both; and (c) the members present shall vote by secret ballot on the question of whether the resolution made under subclause 11.4, that the resolution is confirmed or revoked.
- 12.4 If the meeting passes a special resolution in favour of the confirmation of the resolution made under subclause 11.4, then that resolution is confirmed.

## 13. GENERAL MEETINGS

# 13.1 Annual General Meetings

The annual general meeting of the members shall be held on the second Tuesday of November each year or such other time as the Board shall from time to time decide.

## 13.2 Place of Meetings

Meetings of the members shall be held at such place within or without the Territory as may be designated in the notice thereof. In the absence of such designation, the meeting shall be held at the principal office of CAPO in the Territory .

## 13.3 Notice of Meeting

- (a) Notice of the place, day and hour of Annual General Meetings of CAPO shall be given to each member not less than 28 days before the meeting by written notice delivered personally or sent by mail or addressed to each member at his address as shown by the records of CAPO or any other method. There shall be sent with the notice a notice of the business it is proposed to transact at the meeting.
- (b) If mailed any notice given pursuant to this clause shall be deemed to be delivered when posted with prepaid postage.
- (c) Members may waive notice of any meeting.
- 13.4 Business of the Annual General Meeting

The business of the Annual General Meeting shall be: to receive the report of the President, to receive the report of the Treasurer, to elect a qualified auditor, to elect as required the Executive, all further business included on the agenda paper or added by the meeting.

## 13.5 Chairman of General Meetings

The President or his or her absence the Vice-President or in his or her absence the nominee of the President shall preside as chairman at every general meeting.

13.6 Procedure and Quorum at General Meetings

- (a) No item of business shall be transacted at a general meeting unless a quorum of members, entitled under these rules to vote, is present during the time the meeting is considering that item.
- (b) Five members present in person (being members entitled under these rules to vote at a general meeting) constitute a quorum for the transaction of the business of a general meeting.
- (c) If within half an hour after the appointed time for the commencement of a general meeting a quorum is not present, the meeting if convened upon the requisition of the Board Members shall be dissolved and in any other case shall stand adjourned to the same day in the following week at the same time and (unless another place is specified at the time of the adjournment by the person presiding at the meeting or communicated by written notice to members given before the day to which the meeting is adjourned) at the same place.
- (d) If at the adjourned meeting a quorum is not present within half an hour after the time appointed for the commencement of the meeting, the members present (being not less than 3) shall constitute a quorum.

#### 14 BOARD

## 14.1 Powers

The Board of Trustees shall manage the affairs of CAPO and shall determine the general policy of CAPO in applying its funds to the purposes for which it was formed, and shall have and exercise all rights and powers necessary or convenient therefor, to the extent permitted by law.

#### 14.2 Number and Tenure

- (a) The persons whose names appear in the Schedule constituted the first Board CAPO. Each Board member shall hold office until his successor, elected as is hereinafter provided.
- (b) The Board shall consist of not more than 65 members. (excluding life members)
- (c) Any casual vacancies occurring in the Board may be filled by the Board from persons nominated by the Nominations Commitee. Board members need not be residents of the Territory.

#### 14.3 Vacancies on Board

For the purposes of these rules, a vacancy in the office of a member of the Board occurs if the member: (a) dies; (b) is removed from office pursuant to clause 19; (c) becomes an insolvent under administrative within the meaning of the Corporations Law; (d) suffers from mental or physical incapacity; (e) is disqualified from office under subsection 63(1) of the Act; or (f) is absent without the consent of the Board from more than one third of the meetings of the Board held during a period of 1 year.

## 14.4 Regular Meetings

A regular meeting of the Board of Trustees shall be held immediately after, and at the same place as, the annual meeting of members, without other notice than these Rules. The Board may provide by resolution the time and place for the holding of additional regular meetings of the Board without notice other than such resolution.

## 14.5 Special Meetings

Special meetings of the Board may be called by, or at the request of , the President or any two members of the Executive. The person or persons calling the special meeting may fix any place as the place for holding the meeting.

# 14.6 Notice of Meetings of Trustees

Notice of any special meeting of the Board shall be given at least three days before the meeting by written notice delivered personally or sent by mail, email or facsimile transmission addressed to each member at his or her address as shown by the records of CAPO. If mailed, such notice shall be deemed to be delivered when posted with postage thereon prepaid. Notice shall be deemed to be delivered if sent by email or facsimile at the same time that a receipt for transmission is provided by the facsimile machine from where the notice is sent or an acknowledgement in whatever email program is used to transmit the message of a completed transmission. Board members may waive notice at any meeting. Neither the business to be transacted, nor the purpose of any meeting of the Board, need be specified in the notice of the meeting.

# 14.7 Meeting by Common Consent

Whenever all of the members of the Board are present together and unanimously consent thereto, a meeting may be held forthwith without notice or waiver of notice.

# 14.8 Manner of Acting

The act of the majority of Board Members present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board, except where otherwise provided by law or by these Rules.

## 15. THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

- 15.1 Between meetings of the Board and subject to the authority of the Board, the affairs of CAPO shall be managed by an Executive Committee which shall have the power to perform all such acts and do all such things as appear to the Committee to be necessary or desirable for the proper management of the affairs of CAPO. 15.2 The Executive Committee will consist of: the President the Vice- President the Secretary the Treasurer of CAPO the Legal Consultant the Chair of the Allocation Committee the Chair of the Nominations Committee the Chair of the Procurement Committee the Chair of the Party Production Committee the Chair of the Public Relations Committee the Chair of the Publications Committee any other person nominated by the Executive Committee.
- 15.3 The executive committee shall determine its own rules of procedure but shall keep regular minutes of its proceedings and shall report the same to the Board.
- 15.4 Vacancies on Executive Committee For the purposes of these rules, a vacancy in the office of a member of the Executive Committee occurs if the member: (a) dies; (b) ceases to be a Board Member of CAPO; (c)

resigns from office; -16- (d) becomes an insolvent under administration within the meaning of the Corporations Law; (e) suffers from mental or physical incapacity (f) is disqualified from office.

## 16. THE ALLOCATIONS COMMITTEE

16.1 There shall be a Allocations Committee consisting of no less than eight Board members

16.2 The membership of this committee shall consist of at least on representative from each of the fields of the Arts and at least two members who are not representative of a field of Art. The term of office of members of the Allocations Committee shall expire at the end of that year.

## 17. THE NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE

17.1 There shall be a Nominations Committee.

17.2 The members of the Nominations Committee shall be: the current President the Chair of Nominations the Vice- President and such other Board Members as are elected by the Board.

17.3 The Nominations Committee shall present to the Board any nominations received for Board Membership

#### 18. OTHER COMMITTEES AND OR FUNCTIONS

The Board may appoint one or more committees including the Public Relations Committee, Procurement Committee, Party Production Committee, Volunteer Coordination Committee each of which shall consist of two or more Board Members, as may be required to carry out the business of CAPO and to exercise such authority a may be delegated to the committee; and the Board may appoint any one or more Board Members to perform such other functions as the Board thinks fit.

## 19. OFFICERS OF CAPO

19.1 Designation, Election and Removal

(a) The officers of the Association shall consist of the President the Vice President the Treasurer of CAPO the Secretary the Legal Consultant the Chair of the Allocation Committee the Chair of the Nominations Committee the Chair of the Procurement Committee the Chair of the Party Production Committee the Chair of the Public Relations Committee the Chair of the Publications Committee and such other officers and assistant officers as the Board may deem necessary, elected by the Board at its AGM (or if not then elected, at its first meeting held after the time prescribed for the AGM) for a term of one year.

19.2 The President

The President shall be the principal executive officer of CAPO and shall, in general, supervise its affairs. He/she may sign with the secretary, or any other officer so authorised by the Board, all documents which the Board shall have authorised to be executed, except in cases where the signing and execution thereof shall be expressly delegated by the Board or by statute to some other officers or agent of the Association.

19.3 Vice-Presidents

The Vice-President shall be vested with all the powers and be required to perform all of the duties of the president as delegated to him by the President and he or she shall have powers and duties as he or she may from time to time be assigned or directed to perform by these rules, the Board, or by the President.

19.4 Chair Procurement Committee

The Chair Procurement Committee shall be responsible for all the procurement functions of CAPO. He shall be the head of the Procurements Committee and shall form and appoint such other committees as may be required to perform all of the duties of procurement and shall report directly to the President of CAPO and shall be vested with all the powers required to perform duties pursuant to his office.

19.5 Secretary

The Secretary of the corporation shall keep the minutes of the meetings of the members and of the Board; subject to these rules, shall have custody of all records and other documents relating to CAPO; shall have custody of the seal of CAPO, shall keep a record of the names and addresses of all the members of CAPO; and shall, in general, perform all duties incident to the office of the secretary and such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to him by the President of the Board.

19.6 Treasurer

The treasurer shall attend to the collection, receipt and disbursement of all moneys belonging to CAPO. He or she shall have authority to endorse, on behalf of CAPO, all cheques, notes, drafts, warrants and orders; and he or she shall have custody over all securities of CAPO. He or she shall have such additional powers and such duties as he or she may from time to time be assigned or directed to perform by these Rules or by the Board or the President.

## 20. INSPECTION OF BOOKS

Subject to any reasonable restrictions that may be imposed by the Board from time to time as to the time and manner of inspecting the same, the records, books and other documents of CAPO shall be open to inspection at a place in the Territory, free of charge, by any member of CAPO at any reasonable hour on every weekday excepting public holidays.

## 21. FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS OF CAPO

21.1 The funds of CAPO shall be derived from subscription fees, donations, fundraising activities and such other sources as the Board determines.

- 21.2 All funds belonging to or received by CAPO shall be placed in one or more bank accounts in the name of CAPO and such funds may be withdrawn from such account or accounts only by means of cheques signed by any one of the President, Treasurer and Secretary and one other member of the Executive Committee. Any member of the Executive may endorse cheques or negotiable instruments payable to the credit of CAPO.
- 21.3 All payments of funds drawn from any bank account of CAPO shall be made only with authority from the Executive.
- 21.4 The financial year of CAPO shall conclude on the 31st day of December in each year .
- 21.5 The Board shall cause proper books of account to be kept with respect of: (a) all sums of money received and expended by CAPO and the matter in respect of which the receipt and expenditure takes place;
- (b) all sales and purchases of goods by CAPO, and (c) the assets and liabilities of CAPO -
- 21.6 The books of account shall be kept at the office of CAPO from time to time or at such other place as the Board shall think fit. Notwithstanding any other provision of these rules, such books of account shall always be open to the inspection of members of the Board.
- 21.7 The Board shall at least once in each period of 12 months cause to be prepared and laid before the annual general meeting a profit and loss account and balance sheet setting out the assets and liabilities of CAPO and such reports as are deemed necessary. A copy of every such document which is to be laid before the annual general meeting together with a copy of the auditor's report shall not less than 14 days before the date of the annual general meeting, be sent to all persons entitled to receive notices of general meetings. 21.8 The Public Officer shall within one (I) month after the preparation of the said profit and loss account and balance sheet file with the Registrar of Incorporated Associations copies thereof certified to be
- 21.9 The Public Officer shall file all other returns as required and in the manner required by the Act.

#### 22. AUDITOR

correct by the auditor.

- 22.1 At any time before the first annual general meeting of CAPO the Board shall appoint a person or persons to be the auditor or auditors of CAPO and any auditor or auditors so appointed shall hold office until the first annual general meeting.
- 22.2 CAPO shall at each annual general meeting appoint a person or persons to be the auditor or auditors of CAPO and any auditor or auditors so appointed shall hold office until the next annual general meeting of CAPO.
- 22.3 An auditor of CAPO may be removed from office by resolution of CAPO at a general meeting of which notice has been given but not otherwise. CAPO shall at the meeting, where an auditor is removed from office, forthwith appoint any person nominated at the meeting as auditor.
- 22.4 No person shall be appointed as auditor of CAPO unless he is a duly registered company auditor within the meaning of the Corporations Law.

# 23. PUBLIC OFFICER

- 23.1 The Board shall appoint a person who is resident in the Australian Capital Territory to be Public Officer of CAPO.
- 23.2 The Public Officer shall be deemed to have vacated his office if he: (a) dies (b) ceases to be a Board Member of CAPO (c) resigns from office; (d) becomes an insolvent under administrative within the meaning of the Corporations law; (e) suffers from mental or physical incapacity; (f) is disqualified from office under subsection 63(1) of the Act; (g) ceases to be resident in the Australian Capital Territory; or (h) is removed from office by a resolution of the Board.
- 23.3 If for any reason the office of Public Officer shall become vacant the Board shall within 14 days after it becomes vacant, appoint another person qualified as aforesaid to fill that vacancy.
- 23.4 The Public Officer shall within 14 days after his appointment give notice in writing to the Registrar of Incorporated Associations in the Australian Capital Territory of his appointment and of his full name and residential address. If at any time the Public Officer changes his address within the said Territory he shall within 14 days after the change, give notice in writing to the Registrar.

## 24. COMMON SEAL OF CAPO

The Common Seal of CAPO shall be in the safe custody of the Secretary and shall not be affixed to any instrument except by authority of a resolution of the Board and in the presence of any two members of the Executive and such two persons shall sign every instrument to which the Common Seal of CAPO is so affixed in their presence. The Secretary shall keep a register containing a list of all documents sealed with the Common Seal of CAPO.

## 25. DISPOSAL OF PROPERTY OF CAPO

- 25.1 In the event of CAPO being wound up, any surplus assets after the payment of all liabilities and liquidating fees shall be disposed of as decided upon at a meeting of the Board held for the purpose, consideration to be given to some Association or Society having similar objects as CAPO, provided in any event any such surplus shall not be paid or transferred to the members of CAPO.
- 25.2 The liability of a member to contribute towards the payment of debts and liabilities of CAPO or the costs, charges and expenses of the winding-up of CAPO, is limited to the amount, if any, unpaid by the member in respect of membership of CAPO as required by clause 10.4.

- 25.3 CAPO shall at all times maintain such procedures and comply with any such requirements as may be required to qualify for deductable gift recipient status pursuant to the Income Tax Assessment Act.
  26. ALTERATIONS TO THIS CONSTITUTION AND THESE RULES
- 26.1 This Constitution and these Rules may be amended only by a resolution passed by a two-thirds majority of Board Members present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote at an General Meeting of which one months notice shall be given.
- 26.2 Where the Association has resolved to alter its rules, the Public Officer shall, not later than one month after the resolution was passed, lodge with the Registrar of Incorporated Associations notice of the changes, including a declaration by at least 2 members of the Board that a special resolution was passed.

# SCHEDULE OF FIRST TRUSTEE MEMBERS

President Mr George COLMAN, OBE	Mr Don ALEXANDER
Ms Catherine ANDREWS	Mr Ross ANDREWS
Professor Arthur BIRCH	Ms Elizabeth CLAYTON
Mr Bruce CONNERY	Mrs Ray COOKE
Miss Ruth DOBSON, OBE	Professor Bill DOE
Rear Admiral Bill DOVERS	Mr Richard DOWE
Mr Henry DUNAJEV	Mr Ross GIBSON
Mr Paul GREENHALGH	Mr Bob HINCKSMAN
Dr Geoffrey HOLT	Mrs Valerie HOWSE
Mr Sid HARTSTEIN	Mr Laurie ILLINGWORTH
Mr Graham JACKSON	Mr Richard KEMP
Mr Arthur KENYON	Dr John KIBUKAMOSOKE
Mr John KILMARTIN	Mrs Rosemary KOCH
Mrs Suzanne LEE	Mrs Barbara MACPHILLAMY
Mrs Shirley MELDRUM	Miss Julie MILLER
Mr Fulton MUIR	Mr Ron MURRAY
Ms Poppy NOTARAS	Mr Michael OSBORNE

Lady Helen REFSHAUGE	Mr Bert ROBERTS
Mrs Pat RYAN	Mr David ROBB
Miss Catherine SANTAMARIA	Mrs Norma SCULLY
Mrs J T STOREY	Dr Enrico TAGLIETTI
Mr Richard THORP	Mr Bruce WILSON